CASE NO: 68,549

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO COUNT II OF THE INDICTMENT?
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS APPELLANT'S CONFESSION?
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING MEMBERS OF THE VICTIM'S FAMILY TO TESTIFY PRIOR TO PRONOUNCEMENT OF SENTENCE?
  - IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO DEATH BASED ON INVALID AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES?

- V. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING ALL DEATH PENALTY MOTIONS OF APPELLANT?
- VI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE PRECLUSION OF DEATH QUALIFICATIONS OF JURORS AND A BIFURCATED JURY?

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The relevant facts are as follows: On May 29, 1984, Georgiana Worden was found dead at approximately 8:00 A.M. in the master bedroom of her residence in Boca Raton, Florida. A neighbor discovered the body after Georgiana Worden's children had phoned his residence. (R. 2805-09). The State offered testimony that Georgiana Worden died from mutiple blows to the head by a blunt instrument consistent with a hammer. (R. 3042 -3046). The injuries to the head were followed by lacerations to the wall of the victim's vagina. The State presented testimony from the medical examiner that there was little or no blood pressure in Georgiana Worden's body at the time of the lacerations to the vagina due to an absence of hemorrahaging. There was no evidence presented to show that Georgiana Worden was alive at the time of vaginal penetration either by an instrument or a man's penis. The medical examiner stated: "The victim may have been dead at the time of those lacerations, that is correct." (R. 3092). The State also showed that there were no "defensive injuries" about the victim's which, if present, would have indicated a struggle. (R. 3087). This is consistent with the confession of Duane Owen which incicates that Georgiana Worden

1

was asleep at the time of the attack and unaware. In addition, the attack was brief in duration. (SR. 1008 - 1014).

Although the evidence failed to establish that Georgiana Worden was alive at the time of the insemination and the lacerations, Appellant was still indicted under Count II of Sexual Battery upon a "person", and was convicted. Appellant was then sentenced to life imprisonment for that offense.

On May 29 1984, the Boca Raton Police Department issued a B.O.L.O. or flier for the Appellant, DUANE OWEN, after his picture was identified from a photo line-up. (R. 689 - 691). The following day, on May 30, 1984, Officer K. Petracco from the Boca Raton Police stopped Duane Owen who was walking down a street at 12:30 P.M. The officer justified the stop by stating the he "generally fit the description of the picture I had." (R. 650). Upon the approach of the unmarked partol car, Duane Owen did not attempt to flee, and when requested to produce indentification, he exhibited a driver's license. He was then arrested at the scene and has been in custody ever since.

4

Duane Owen was then transported to the Boca Raton Police Station, and after substantial delay during which Lt. K. Mccoy interogated him, he was transported to the Palm Beach County Jail. On June 1, 1984, Sgt. M. Woods fron the Delray Beach Police Department, along with Lt. McCoy of Boca, traveled to the county jail to interrogate Duane Owen covering both the capital and non-capitol cases that they hoped Duane Owen would clear. This interrogation lasted from 3:55 P.M. until 10:45 P.M.

Neither officer brought a tape recorder, nor did they make any attempt to record this interrogation even though they had the Appellant in a room at the jail that was setup for video taping, and which they subsquently used to record in excess of twenty (20) hours of interrogation with Appellant. (R. 873 - 894). Lt. McCoy generated a hand written account of their interrogation complete with statements in quotations. (R. 893).

Over the next three weeks, various investigators from both Boca Raton and Delray Beach went to Palm Beach County Jail to interrogate Appellant on video tape in excess of twenty (20) hours, as follows:

> June 3, 1984: 5:00 P.M. -11:30 P.M. June 6, 1984: 11:15 A.M. - 4:20 P.M. June 7, 1984: 6:00 P.M. - 10:55 P.M. June 8, 1984: 1:45 P.M. - 4:00 P.M. June 18, 1984: 4:30 P.M. - 9:10 P.M. June 21, 1984: Approximately five (5) hours

During these interviews, as a review of the video tapes themselves would confirm, various interrogation techniques were utilized, including but not limited to, "the false friend", "Mutt and Jeff", and misstatements of the law so as to mislead, deceive, and delude Appellant as to his true position. <u>In total, Appel-</u> <u>lant was interrogated in excess of seventy-two (72) hours.</u> The consequence of these lengthy interrogation sessions, the interrogation techniques utilized, and the totality of the circumstances resulted in the Appellant making statements which lead to his indictment and conviction for the murder of Georgiana Worden .

During the interrogation, reference the instant appeal which occurred at the latter portion of the seventy-two (72) hour

ordeal, the Appellant was misled by his interrogators into giving a statement. Duane Owen was misled into thinking he would be "helped" if he confessed to his new "friend" the Boca Raton police officer:

> THE DEFENDANT: See, see, let's say for instance this John Doe does a certain crime--OFFICER MC COY: Let's stay on this crime; that is what I am talking about. THE DEFENDANT: Let's say John Doe murdered somebody. OFFICER MC COY: Uh-huh. THE DEFENDANT: He gets arrested for it and he has a couple of options: they are going to take his fifty-fifty back, he can either go to a jury, be found guilty or not guilty; or he can confess to it and take his chances there. OFFICER MC COY: Uh-huh. THE DEFENDANT: He has got two different chances there -- maybe three. OFFICER MC COY: Uh-huh. THE DEFENDANT: So let's say he takes the first chance by confessing to it. And you know, John Doe -- there is a lot of different things that can happen to him there. OFFICER MC COY: Sure. OFFICER WOODS: Uh-huh. But John Doe gets to select his options rather than John Doe doing what the jury tells him. THE DEFENDANT: John Doe doesn't have any options, John Doe doesn't. OFFICER MC COY: Sure he does. THE DEFENDANT: Because by confessing to such a crime, he could get burnt. You know what I am talking about? OFFICER MC COY: Am I still here? THE DEFENDANT: But still --OFFICER MC COY: Am I still here? Have I been here? I am still here, okay. I am still here.

He can make me understand, Okay. Make me understand why the crime happened. He can do that, man.

\* \*

OFFICER MC COY: John Doe could make me understand alot already for the last couple days, okay. He has made me understand alot already. That is what he has going for him.

\*

That is the test that John Doe is called for, okay.

And John Doe can decide on his new mission in life. We can get him started, okay. The longer John Doe keeps fighting it, somewhere along the line he may get left behind. And he would still be fighting that battle. Okay. And he may not have that guy to help him

understand, okay. That is why I am here now. I don't think you are going to find too many other guys like myself. Okay. You said yourself. You said the other cops are like... (SR. 107 - 110).

Duane Owen is consistently misled into believing the officers will help him through their purposely vague syntax and non-stop contention that Officer McCoy is his buddy who will protect him and help him get the treatment he needs:

> OFFICER MC COY: Like I told you -- like I told you -- what do you have going for you? When you get right down to the nittygritty, what do you have going for you? THE DEFENDANT: That's besides the point. OFFICER MC COY: Wait a minute. \* \* \* THE DEFENDANT: Still though -- still, its a whole different ball game. OFFICER MC COY: You will get the help. You will get the help. THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, but still we are playing this thin line game, this here chance. OFFICER MC COY: No, we're not. You will definitely get the help, okay. The Court system will see to that. (SR. 167 - 168).

At one point Officer Livingston is sent in to play the "bad cop" opposite McCoy's "good cop" role:

OFFICER LIVINGSTON: Kevin sat in here and he's gone way beyond even what I think is reasonable, and it was against my better

judgment, but he wanted to do it. He thought there was something about you that he thought he could help, and he went way beyond what I ever thought should have been done.

OFFICER LIVINGSTON: But I don't want you to -- I don't want you to confess to me, not me. If you ever decide to do that, I'll tell you who to do it to, that's the guy who was in here a few minutes ago. You owe him. You don't owe me.

He's the closest thing you got in the world of a friend right now. Maybe outside of your brother, he's probably all you got left, but not me. I don't even want to hear it... (SR. 413 - 420).

This technique is non-stop. The supplemental record on appeal is a transcript of all the taped conversations all of which were considered by the trial court in denying Duane Owen's Motion to Suppress Statements.

Appellant's tacit refusal to talk about the murder over all those hours was an express assertion of his Fifth Amendment rights. This indirect assertion fell on deaf ears as was evident by law enforcement's continued interrogation.

After the rendition of the jury's ten to two (10-2) recommendation, but prior to pronouncement of sentence, the trial court, now the sentencing court, solicted statements from the victim's family to "advise" the court as to what sentence to impose. (R. 4364 -4369).

On February 18, 1986, the jury returned a verdict of guilty for First Degree Murder ( Count I), Sexual Battery (Count II), and Burglary (Count III). On March 5, 1986 the jury returned a vote of ten to two (10-2), recommending the death penalty. On

March 13, 1986, the trial court sentenced the Appellant to death in Florida's electric chair, this giving rise to this instant Appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

From the moment of his arrest through the pronouncement of the sentence, the Appellant, DUANE EUGENE OWEN, was denied a fair trial in violation of Due Process. After his arrest, the Appellant was interrogated for approximately seventy-two (72) hours. During the latter portion of this interrogation, the Appellant gave in to the coercive techniques utilized by police and began giving statements reference the instant case. However, prior to actually making the statement, the Appellant indicated by his actions an unwillingness to discuss the case any further with the police. Appellant's wishes were ignored by police as indicated by their continued questioning. The statements thereafter obtained by the police from the Appellant were taken in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution as interpreted by the Supreme Court in Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), and Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 289 (1980).

The statements are further tainted by the unlawful stop and seizure of the Appellant, who was stopped while walking down a sidewalk at 12:35 P.M. because he looked <u>similar</u> to a photograph possessed by the police. Duane Owen did not attempt to flee, and when requested, he produced identification. In <u>Brown v. Texas</u>, 443, U.S. 47 (1979), the Supreme Court ruled that stopping a person to obtain identification is a seizure as defined in the Fourth Amendment. Based upon nothing more, the instant seizure

of the Appellant was unlawful, thus any and all statements which resulted were subject to suppression.

An additional ground for suppressing Duane Owen's statement was the obvious psychological coercion utilized by the police. Throughout the recorded sessions there are numerous instances where law enforcement attempts to communicate to the Appellant that by confessing he will have more control over his future, than by remaining mute. Further, that by confessing he will be able to take his future into his own hands, rather than placing it in the hands of the jury. Additionally, these tapes depict various promises made to Owen in return for cooperation including, but not limited to, bringing his brother to the next interrogation session for consultation with him, as well as a contact visit; something not authorized or permitted to other pre-trial detainees. Police trickery and deception in obtaining confessions are common techniques, but ones which have long been criticized by the Supreme Court. In Miranda v. Arizona, supra, the Court stated:

> Again we stress that the modern practice of in-custody interrogation is psychologically rather than physically oriented... This Court has recognized that coercion can be mental as well as physical, and that the blood of the accused in not the only hallmark of an unconstitutional inquisition.

The Court then goes on to outline those psychologically oriented tactics utilized by law enforcement to acquire confessions. The Court utilizes the very text books written by police officers, for police officers to instruct them on the utilization of

psychological coercion to break through a defendant's normal defenses to acquire a confession. In particular, the Court criticized such techniques as the "Mutt-and-Jeff" interrogation, in which a supposedly sympathetic interrogator promises to protect the suspect from a hostile interrogator if the suspect will only cooperate. Officers McCoy and Livingston utilize this technique throughout the interrogations taking place over numerous days and hours. But the most pointed example can be found on tape #5, at the end of the session where Livingston tells the Appellant the he owes it to McCoy to confess, and McCoy tells the Appellant, but he, Mccoy doesn't feel that way. It is the overall effect of the long and constant interrogation sessions that make the statements provided by the Appellant inadmissible.

In a similar vein, some forms of police trickery involve falsely taking the side of the suspect, convincing him that the interrogator is a friend and really has the suspects best interest in mind. McCoy's approach to Duane Owen as it developed over the various interrogation sessions are a text book example of this technique in action. The Court has found that confessions under these circumstances to be involuntary.

Duane Owen was charged and convicted, under Count II of the instant Indictment of Sexual Battery upon a "person". The evidence produced during the trial clearly indicated that the "person" was most likely dead at the time of the sexual battery. Since the sexual battery was committed against a corpse rather

than a person, no violation of F.S. 794.011 (3), was committed since this statute requires the victim to be a person.

Two Florida Courts have ruled the sexual battery cannot be committed against a corpse. <u>McCrae v. Wainwright</u>, 439 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1983); and, <u>McCall v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 306 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Additionally, Pennsylvania, California, Maryland, and the Court of Military Appeals have held that, as a matter of law, in order to support a conviction of sexual battery or rape, the victim must be <u>alive</u> at the moment of penetration.

The trial court denied Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal for the Sexual Battery Count even after being confronted with this Court's decision in <u>McCrae v. Wainwright</u>, <u>supra</u>. It becomes obvious that the Appellant was denied a fair trial at this point in violation of Due Process because of the gross prejudicial effect of the jury deliberating on the murder issue along with a court which should have been dismissed.

The error was further magnified when the State was allowed to argue in aggravation to both the jury and sentencing judge the aggravating circumstance of sexual battery, which as a matter of law, never occurred.

The trial court sentenced the Appellant to die in Florida's electric chair based upon three invalid aggravating circumstances, while still finding mitigating circumstances. The Appellant was sentenced to death based upon sexual battery, which as a matter of law and previously addressed, did not occur.

In light of the foregoing, not only must Duane Owen's sentence be vacated, but additionally, the conviction and judgment <u>must</u> be set aside with directions for a fair trial within the bounds of Due Process, and a new impartial trial judge.

•

•

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO COUNT II OF THE INDICTMENT

Duane Owen was charged and convicted, under Count II of the Indictment, of sexual battery upon a "person". After the State rested its case in chief, the Appellant made a Motion For Judgment of Acquittal pursuant to F.R.Crim.P. 3.380(a). The foundation for the Motion was that the evidence introduced during trial clearly indicated that the "person" was dead at the time of the sexual battery; thus, sexual battery was not committed against "a person" but rather a <u>corpse</u>. As such, the Appellant would maintain that no violation of F.S. 794.011(3), was ever committed since this statute requires the victim to be "a person". F.S. 794.011(1)(i).

#### A. <u>At the time of the sexual battery</u> the victim was already deceased.

For over sixty years the law in Florida has been clear that the version of events as related by the defense must be believed if the circumstances do not show that the version to be false. <u>McArthur v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1977); <u>Mayo v. State</u>, 71 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1954); <u>Holton v. State</u>, 87 Fla. 65, 99 So. 244 (1924); and <u>Flower v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1344, (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), see also, <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 120 Fla.26, 161 So. 840 (1935), <u>Kelly</u> <u>v. State</u>, 99 Fla. 378, 388, So. 366 (1924); and <u>Metrie v. State</u>, 98 Fla. 1228, 125 So 352 (1930). It should be noted that the

seven authorities cited above were all homicide cases. In <u>Mayo</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that:

> A defendant's version of a homicide cannot be ignored where there is absence of other evidence legally sufficient to contradict his explanation. <u>Id</u>., at p.903.

Also, in Kelly v. State, supra., this Court held that:

...there was no substantial evidence that in any was contradicted the testimony of the accused. <u>Id</u>., at p.388.

Applying the foregoing principle of law to the instant appeal and reviewing the evidence as presented in the State's case in chief, it is more likely than not that at the time of the sexual battery, the victim was already dead; this, what in essence occurred, was a "sexual battery" on a corpse.

Applying the rule of law that the version of events as related by the defense <u>must</u> be believed if the circumstances do not show that version to be false, <u>Mayo v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the confession of the Appellant that the rape occurred in the bedroom must be accepted as the actual version of the facts. Thus, it becomes clear and undisputed that at the time of the actual sexual battery, the victim was already dead.

Appellant would further assert that the State has the burden to establish that the penetration occurred prior to the death of the "person". By implication, the Fifth District held that there was no clear and convincing evidence presented by the State that the sexual battery occurred prior to death, thus, this was an improper reason for departure from the sentencing guidelines.

<u>McCall v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Additionally, the law in Florida, when addressing circumstantial evidence cases, is that when the State relies upon circumstantial evidence to convict an accused, such evidence must not only be consistent with the defendant's guilt, but it <u>must</u> also be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. <u>McArthur v. Nourse</u>, 369 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1979); <u>McArthur v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Davis v. State</u>, 90 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1956); <u>Mayo v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Head v. State</u>, 62 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1952); and <u>Davis v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 196 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). It has been held that "even though the circumstantial evidence is sufficient to suggest a probability of guilt, it is not thereby adequate to support a conviction if it is likewise consistent with a reasonable hypothesis of innocence". <u>McArthur</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 978; and <u>Davis v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 632.

Reading <u>McCall v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, in conjunction with the circumstantial evidence law in Florida, it becomes clear that the State had the burden in the instant case to prove that the penetration occurred prior to the death; a burden which has not been met.

#### B. <u>Sexual battery as defined by Florida</u> <u>Statute cannot be committed against</u> <u>a corpse</u>.

The Appellant was charged and convicted under Count II of the instant Indictment with sexual battery upon a "person" in violation of F.S. 794.011(3). To sustain a conviction for sexual battery, it is incumbent upon the State to first establish that the "person" be a living human being. An analogy can first be

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