IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)))

)

)

DUANE EUGENE OWEN,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 68,549

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

In United States v. Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 187 (1984) the Supreme Court of the United States held that "[t]he Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches only when formal judicial proceedings are initiated against an individual by way of indictment, information, arraignment, or preliminary hearing." See also Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412 (1987); Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 688-689 (1972). This right simply does not attach when a Florida criminal defendant is brought before a judicial officer within 24 hours of his arrest for a nonadversarial determination of probable cause or "first appearance" pursuant to Rule 3.130, see Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 122 (1975); see also Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 687; Baker v. State, 202 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1967); Waterhouse v. State, 429 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1938), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 977 (1983); Perkins v. State, 228 So.2d 382, 388-389 (Fla. 1969). For this Court to retroactively interpret our state constitution's version of the Sixth Amendment to

-81-

afford those arrestees who have been "first appearanced" a right to counsel more expansive than that afforded to them under the federal constitution would be totally unwarranted considering that the police here faithfully followed the letter of the law as it existed at the time of appellant's interrogations. Appellant's Fifth Amendment right to counsel attached no later than the time of his arrest, <u>see Caso v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 249 (Fla. April 7, 1988), and would have adequately protected him from all of the various subsequent solo interrogations had he chosen to avail himself of it. Of course, Appellant voluntarily waived this right for reasons of his own, which was certainly his prerogative. <u>Colorado v. Connelly</u>, 479 U.S. ____, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986).

Further, under the facts of the instant case it is abundantly clear that Appellant initiated the interrogations when he called Officers Woods and McCoy to come see him in jail on June 1, June 3, June 7, June 8 and June 18, 1984. Additionally, as discussed supra in this issue and the statement of the facts, Appellant specifically waived his Fifth Amendment right to counsel when he explained that he knew he had been appointed the public defender at first appearance, and had talked to a private attorney, but he specifically asserted he did not need an attorney present, and he would go ahead and speak to McCoy (ST 269-270). Appellant throughout the conversations let the officers know he was well aware of his right to have an attorney present and knew what the advice would be, but declined to have

-82-

his attorney present because he thinks attorneys are all jerks. Thus, the rule in <u>Jackson</u> is not applicable <u>sub judice</u>. <u>See</u>, <u>Arizona v. Roberson</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 43Cr.L. 3085 (No. 87-354, June 15, 1988); <u>Tucker v. Kemp</u>, 660 F.Supp. 832, 835-836 (M.D.GA. 1987), <u>approved</u>, 818 F.2d 749, 751 (11th Cir. 1987).

Additionally, the state points out that <u>Espinoza</u> has been rejected by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in <u>Butler v.</u> <u>Aiken</u>, <u>F.2d</u>, 43 Cr.L. 2117-2118 (4th Cir., No. 87-4004, May 6, 1988), where it was held that:

> Properly initiated interrogation on entirely new charges does not intrude into an accused's previously invoked rights but rather offers the accused an opportunity to weigh his rights intelligently in this case, the accused then freely waives any constitutional right to counsel and provides voluntary statements of an incriminating nature, there is no justification for undermining the search for truth by suppressing those statements

Therefore, the record herein supports the conclusion that Appellant's confessions, preceded by appropriate warnings and a voluntary waiver of fifth amendment protections, were not obtained in violation of his constitutional rights or the prophylactic rule of <u>Edwards v. Arizona</u>. Thus, Appellant's contentions are without merit. <u>See also</u>, <u>Knight v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 922, 925-926 (Fla. 1987) rejecting similar <u>Espinoza</u> allegations.

-83-

5. <u>Conclusion</u>

The trial court viewed the videotapes, heard the testimony, observed the witnesses, adjudged their credibility and concluded that the statement was freely and voluntarily given. Even should the evidence be regarded as not so clear and unequivocal as it might have been, the testimony is reasonably susceptible of such a finding by the trial court. Any contrary inferences which might be drawn from the evidence have been resolved by the trial court in favor of the State, and this Court does not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. <u>Wasko v. State</u>, 505 So.2d 1314, 1316 (fla. 1987); <u>Ross v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 1980); <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 351, 353 (Fla. 1984); <u>Keeton v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 231 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <u>Harley v.</u> <u>State</u>, 407 So.2d 382, 384 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Mental weakness alone does not render any confession involuntary. <u>Moore v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Ross v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Keeton</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Denials of a crime by one well aware of his right to remain silent cannot, without more, be taken as an unspoken election to exercise the right to remain silent. <u>Warren</u> <u>v. State</u>, 384 So.2d 1313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). In the instant case no threats or promises were exerted upon Appellant to cause his statements to be invalidated, Appellant's statements were made voluntarily and were therefore admissible, thus the trial court's ruling should be affirmed. <u>Webb v. State</u>, 433 So.2d 496, 498 (Fla. 1983); <u>U.S. v. Perkins</u>, 608 F.2d 1064 (5th Cir. 1979); U.S.

-84-

v. Klein, 592 F.2d 909 (5th Cir. 1979).

B. NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATION OC-URRED BY THE FAILURE TO VIDEO-TAPE APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS GIVEN MAY 30, AND JUNE 1, 1984.

Appellant alleges the police officers' failure to record the statements of May 30, and June 1, 1984, violated his rights and denied him of an opportunity to present a complete defense (APB 12-22). At the motion to suppress, the officers testified that although they had the equipment to record the conversations, same were not used in this case on those two days. This was not a conscious decision, nor an attempt to keep anything from Appellant, but simply because the officers do not automatically record all conversations (R 749-750, 755, 777-779, 835-837, 917-918, 948). The officers testified they took extensive notes during those two sessions, producing 20 handwritten pages on May 30, 1984 (R 830), and a very extensive report on June 1, 1984 (R 893, 953-954). These reports were provided to the defense as part of discovery and used by the defense at the suppression hearing (R 906-924).

Appellant's assertions of prejudice at this late hour are totally bogus and without merit. Appellant, although he could have testified at the suppression hearing without any reprecussions at trial, chose not to take the stand and contradict anything asserted by the officers as to substance or procedure during the interrogations. It is noteworth that even in his brief Appellant does not contradict the officers or state what

-85-

promises were made by the officers to induce him to talk. The allegations that the officers were keeping something from the court was not made at trial. The allegations were to the contrary (See R 852). Thus, Appellant is barred from raising these unsubstantiated allegations now.

The trial court found that "selective recording is not illegal" (R 1501), and denied the motion to suppress. This ruling is supported by case law, and as such must be afirmed. <u>State v. Williams</u>, 386 So.2d 27 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). <u>See also</u>, <u>Hawkins v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 449 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); <u>Albright v.</u> <u>State</u>, 378 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). As it was held by this Court:

> The fact that the confession was an oral one does not vitiate its validity nor prohibit it being received into evidence. The true test is whether the statement was voluntarily and advisedly made by the appellant after full warning of his constitutional rights. There is no rule nore statute which requires a statement to be in writing nor that it be recorded by any recording device. The fact that the confession was not written or recorded but was oral would go only to the weight to be given to it, first by the trial judge in determining its voluntariness and second by the jury in determining its evidentiary weight. [Emphasis added.]

<u>Ashley v. State</u>, 265 So.2d 685, 690 (Fla. 1972). The trial court having found the statements of May 30 and June 1, 1984, to have been freely and voluntarily given, no reversible error appears under this ground. THE TRIAL COURT CONSIDERED ONLY THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTORS IN SEN-TENCING THE APPELLANT.

The Appellant, citing the recent decision in <u>Booth v.</u> <u>Maryland</u>, 482 U.S. _____, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), claims he is entitled to a new sentencing proceeding based on the fact that Mrs. Worden's father made a statement at the sentencing hearing before the judge <u>only</u>. The State maintains there is no reversible error under the circumstances of this case.

<u>Sub judice</u>, the jury did not hear Mr. Sharitt's comments, as the statement was made in court (R 4364-4369) <u>only</u> <u>after</u> the jury had given its advisory sentence on a 10-2 vote for the imposition of death (R 4356-4357). At that point the jury was thanked and excused by the court (R 4360-4362). At which time, the trial court asserted that pursuant to §921.143 the court would hear any advice from the victim's family (R 4363). In response to the defense objection (R 4363), the trial court responded that under §921.143 F.S., he was obligated to hear from the family, specifically here where Appellant was found guilty, "not just of first degree murder but also of two other felonies..." (R 4363).

The State requests this Court take judicial notice of the record in the Slattery Homicide (Case No. 68,550) wherein on the date set for imposition of the sentence, defense counsel, Barry Krischer, made a motion for disqualification of the trial

III

-87-

judge for purpose of sentencing on the basis that the trial court by listening to Mr. Slattery's comments had heard what "amounted to non-statutory aggravating circumstances" (SR⁶ 4649-4652). In denying the motion, the trial judge stated he had heard from Mr. Slattery because it was required by Statute [§921.143 <u>Fla Stat</u>.] to hear from family members. Further, that he did not believe "there was any intent by the legislature to adopt a statute that would effectively remove any trial judge from sentencing [a defendant in] a case by virtue of complying with the statute." The trial judge made it abundantly clear he was capable of separating "different legal decision-making processes," so that Mr. Slattery's comments would not be part of his consideration in the imposition of sentence (SR 4089-93, 4094-95).

In her arguments for the death penalty, the prosecutor based her comments solely on the aggravating and mitigating circumstances as supported by the evidence presented, which are the only proper considerations (R 4279-4313). The trial court's sentencing order is clear that the sentence decision was based only on the aggravating and mitigating factors supported by the evidence, in that the court found four (4) applicable aggravating factors (R 4559-4563); and after considering the evidence presented to establish mitigating factors, determined that none of the mitigating factors outweigh the aggravating fctors, and

⁶ SR refers to record on appeal in the Slattery Homicide Case. Florida Supreme Court No. 68,550.

arrived at the conclusion that death was appropriate (R 4563-65), without making reference to or taking into consideration Mr. Sharrit's comments.

In <u>Booth</u> the Court held that introduction of a victim impact statement before the jury in a capital sentencing proceeding, which the applicable statute required that the jury <u>con-</u> <u>sider</u>, violated the Eighth Amendment. The Maryland statute declared invalid in <u>Booth</u> specifically required that the victim impact statement be considered in a capital case. <u>Md. Ann, Code</u>, Art. 41 §4-609(d) (1986). By contrast, the <u>Florida Statutes</u>; §921.143 -- as it existed at the time of this sentencing hearing, and prior to <u>Grossman</u>, -- required that the victim or victim's next of kin be permitted to make a statement at felony sentencing, but there was no concommittant directive that it be considered in imposing sentence in a capital case.

Appellee, thus maintains that any error in admission of this brief comment by Mr. Sharrit is harmless under this Court's analysis in <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 127 (Fla. Feb. 18, 1988), <u>reh. denied</u>, 13 F.L.W. 349 (Fla. May 25, 1988). As noted in <u>Grossman</u>, the distinction between <u>Booth</u> and the instant case is that the sentencer that heard the victim impact evidence in <u>Booth</u> was the sentencing jury, whereas in the present case it was the trial judge who was required to give great weight to the recommendation of death. Appellant has misinterpreted <u>Booth</u> in a wholly overbroad manner. The <u>Booth</u> decision rested upon <u>Maryland</u>

-89-

law, mandating that the victim impact information be contained within presentence investigation "shall be considered", by the sentencing court, or jury." Booth, 96 L.Ed.2d at 445-446; State v. Post, 513 N.E. 2nd 754, 757-758, n. 1 (Ohio 1987); State v. Bell, 360 S.E. 2nd 706, 713 n. 4 (S.C. 1987). Furthermore, the Booth decision was based on considerably detailed evidence of the victims' children's difficulty in coping with their parents' murder, including economic losses and psychological problems. Booth, 96 L.Ed.2d at 445-456. The record herein, demonstrating a brief comment by Mrs. Worden's father (R 4364-4369), did not constitute evidence of the type of devastation to the victim's family evident in Booth. See, State v. Brown, 358 S.E. 2nd 1 (N.C. 1987) (prosecutor's argument referring to rights of victims' family, as well as those of the defendant, not reversible); Bell, 360 S.E. 2nd at 713 (victim's sister's testimony, as to her fear of defendant, not Booth error); Hill v. Thigpen, 667 F. Supp. 314, 338, n. 4 (N.D. Miss. 1987) (testimony of victim's widow, the victim had two children who were close to their father, not "prejudicial" to defendant uner Booth). It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt tha the judge would have imposed the death penalty in absense of this very insignificant victim impact evidence.

At bar, the trial judge's sentencing orders indicate his consideration of aggravating circumstances was limited to those enumerated in the statute. The written findings present no

-90-

indication of reliance on the victim impact testimony. The fact that he heard from the victim's family does not mean he considered their wishes in imposing the sentence. In <u>Brown v.</u> <u>Wainwright</u>, 392 So.2d 1327, 1333 (Fla. 1981), this court recognized that judges are often cognizant of information that they disregard in the performance of their judicial tasks. Just as factors outside the record play no part in this Court's death sentence review role, <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, the victim impact statements made before the trial judge did not enter into his decision. <u>See</u>, <u>Alford v. State</u>, 355 So.2d 108, 109 (Fla. 1977) [even if judge was "made aware" of certain facts, that does not mean he "considered" them].

It is a well recognized legal principle that judges are capable of disregarding that which should be disregarded; the trial judge's express statement that he would limit his consideration to the statutory aggravating factors should end the matter. <u>Harris v. Rivera</u>, 454 U.S. 339, 346-347 (1981); Ford v. <u>Strickland</u>, 696 F.2d 804, 811 (11th Cir. 1983) (en banc). In <u>Lighthbourne v. Dugger</u>, 829 F.2d 1012, 1027 n. 16 (11th Cir. 1987) the Eleventh Circuit held that resentencing was not required under <u>Booth</u> where victim impact statements contained in a presentence investigation were seen only by the judge and not the jury, when the judge's sentencing order relied solely on the statutorily authorized aggravating circumstances.

Moreover, the trial judge found four (4) aggravating

-91-

factors and no mitigating factors. Thus, Appellee maintains the balance in favor of imposing the death sentence is overwhelming. Finally, as in <u>Grossman</u>, <u>supra</u>, the record shows that the jury did not receive the improper victim impact evidence, but nevertheless recommended the sentences of death by a 10-2 vote. In view of the balance of aggravating factors and the fact that the jury's recommendation was entitled to great weight, any error in receipt of the evidence is harmless. Therefore, the Appellant is not entitled to a new sentencing hearing.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ACCEPT-ING THE JURY RECOMMENDATION AND IMPOS-ING A SENTENCE OF DEATH. (Restated)

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